Fagle Heights

Thomas D. Brock

Eagle Hcights,l a high promontory on the south shore
of Lake Mendota, is a unique natural area of great charm
and value. It is also of considerable historic interest.> Com-
manding one of the best views on the south shore of the
lake, Eagle Heights was visited often by Native Americans,
aswitnessed by the extensive effigy mounds on the property.
Despite its distance from the city, in the 19th century,
sailors, swimmers, hikers, anglers, skiers, and skaters were
all attracted to the Picnic Point area, of which Eagle Heights
is a natural extension.

According to the recollection of one early resident:

Mendota was a lonely, fascinating waste little used. There
was not even the University Drive to enliven its shores.
Above Eagle Heights the bald eagles still screamed, and
one never passed that way without one of the family
swooping down from the hill and circling round the boat
in graceful curves.

During the present century, extensive changes in the
university and the city have affected the Eagle Heights/Pic-
nic Point area, and some portions have been changed
drastically. Fortunately, the vagaries of history have left the
Eagle Heights promontory virtually unscathed, and since
the area is now firmly under university ownership, its con-
tinued protection can be assumed well into the 21st century.

The George Raymer Farm and Drives

The Eagle Heights area and nearby lakeshore frontage
was acquired in 1887 by George Raymer, publisher of the
Madison Democrat newspaper and a prominent citizen.® Ray-
mer lived in a large house on Langdon Street at approxi-
mately the location of the present University of Wisconsin
Memorial Union, but also ran a substantial farm at Eagle
Heights. Raymer was a member of the Board of Regents of
the University of Wisconsin and served two years as its
President.’
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Early in his ownership of the property, Raymer developed
a system of dirt roads, including one leading up to the high
point of Eagle Heights (sometimes called the “Eagle’s Nest”).
The north/south road that Raymer built from University Bay
Drive along the east side of his property was the first part of
what the Madison Park and Pleasure Drive Association would
later call “Lake Mendota Drive”. Although Raymer’s roads
were private, he willingly opened them to the public. Thus, for
many years, the commanding location of Eagle Heights could
be reached by carriages, and later also by automobiles. The
remnants of some of the roads winding up to the promontory
are still visible.

Years later, when the Madison Park and Pleasure Drive
Assocation had become very successful, and its president, John
Olin, was much lauded for his vigorous and astute leadership,
George Raymer wrote a short letter to the local newspaper
reminding people of his role:

“Well, Jud,” said Mr. Raymer to the Gleaner [a newspaper
columnist], “I see that the Journal has published another
inspired account of the origin of the Park and Pleasure Drive
association. There has existed in my mind for a long time a
sort of dreamy impression that many years ago I buill, at a
cost of five or six hundred dollars, some two or three miles of
drive upon Eagle Heights farm, and it was used by several
hundred carriages each summer for at least five years before
the Park and Pleasure Drive association had an existence;
that it was almost wholly due to this drive that the public
subscribed the funds needed to build a drive across the bay to
connect it with the University drive, and out of this grew the
present system of drives of the Park and Pleasure Drive
association. This impression exists to the extent that for a
number of years this was called the Raymer Drive, and even
now it is infrequently so called, despite the many very painful
efforts of Park and Pleasure Drive publications and the
inspired newspaper articles to disabuse the public mind of
early habits. This belief of mine would seem to be all wrong,
judged by all the written history, but there remains the fact
that the greater part of that original drive, winding around
through the woods up to the top of Eagle Heights is not now
and never was any part of the system of the Park and
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Portion of the 1890 plat map for the Town of Madison, showing the location of the George Raymer froperty.
University Avenue (then called Sauk Road) is in the lower part of the picture, south of the railroad tracks.
University Bay Drive passes north through the Isom and Breitenbach prroperties.

The George Raymer farm, about 1910, looking southwest. State Historical Society of Wisconsin, WHi (D486) 134.

Pleasure Drive association, although still used quite as George Raymer's largess was quite significant in the early
much as any of the drives about the city. But, Jud, what years of the Madison Park and Pleasure Drive Association. He
was the name of that man who said, with more truth than also donated as a park a narrow ravine about half way along
elegance, that all written history is one big lie!” Well does Raymer Drive that descended to a small beach:
t“iw Clenmpr S er of passing over and writing up tfhe We are all familiar with the beautiful ravine on Mr.

‘Raymer Drive,” long before the Park and Pleasure Drive ; he Ra hich
SO s i Exirteiize. | Raymer’s farm east of t ymer woods, through which Lake

Mendota Drive passes. Mr. Raymer has generously offered to
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Lake Mendota Drive through the Raymer farm. The ravine that George Raymer donated as a park
is just out of sight down the hill. The Eagle Heights woods and effigy mounds are at the highest point in the distance.
The road today follows essentially the same contours. State Historical Society of Wisconsin, Anonymous, early 1900’s.

convey to the association for a park a diamond-shaped
prece of ground which comprises most of this ravine. It
conlains many native trees and shrubs, and many other
trees have been planted upon it. Mr. Raymer, in a recent
letter concerning this gift, says: “My purpose in doing this
is to secure for the future this grove as one of the beautiful
points on the drive.

Remnants of this park remain as an unkempt parking
area used by ice anglers and nature enthusiasts. There is an
overlook which provides an attractive view across Lake
Mendota.

University Acquisitions

Partly due to the recommendation of John Nolen in his
famous report, % and partly at the behest of the College of
Agriculture, Wthh was interested in experimenting with
wetland farmmg, % the University of Wisconsin, in the early
part of the 20th century, began to acquire property in the
University Bay/Eagle Heights/Picnic Point area.

One major acquisition that the university made at this
time was the Eagle Heights farm of George Raymer, pur-
chased from him in 1911 when he retired and moved to
California."’ For many years, the College of Agriculture
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used most of the Raymer land in its research and development
operations.

The Eagle Heights Effigy Mounds

The Eagle Heights promontory is the highest point on the
south shore of Lake Mendota, 150 feet above the water level.
On the very crest of the hill are three mounds, a large conical
mound 40 feet in diameter and two tapering linear ea.rthworks
175 and 100 feet long and from 8 to 14 feet wide.!® A map of
these mounds Jyas published by archaeologist Charles E.
Brown in 1912,

According to Brown, the Winnebago name for Eagle
Heights was Sh-heta-ka (horse hill). The Winnebago believed
that this highest hill on the shore was inhabited by a spirit
horse, which could be heard neighing and stamping its feet at
times. On cloudy or misty days the Indians believed the horse
could sometimes be seen on top of the hill. Indians were said
to climb this sacred hill to fast and dream and to gain inspira-
tion and power from this spirit horse.

In the early 1920’s, at a period when Brown was publishing
extensively on the effigy mounds of the Madison area, the
university placed a plaque on a large glacial boulder adjacent
to the three mounds at the high point of Eagle Heights. At that
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A map of the Eagle Heights effigy mounds published by Charles E. Brown in 1912.
The present footpath to the summit follows the same route as the drive shoun, which
at that times was open to carriages (and later, automobiles).

time the mounds were said to be “in the care” of the
Madison Boy Scouts.'® At this time the area could be
reached by cars, and there are still remnants of asphalt
paving and a concrete/log retaining wall in certain places.
“The view from Eagle Heights, especially by moonlight, is
exquisitely lovely, and the road leading to the view is inter-
esting and mysterious.”” " (At present the vegetation is so
dense that a lake view can only be obtained in the winter.)

The Tent Colony and Black Hawk Cabin

Beginning about 1912, and extending through the end
of the 1950’s, the university operated a “Tent Colony”,
sometimes called “Camp Gallistella” (after its overseer, AF.
Gallistel), on 25.2 acres of the wooded area below Eagle
Heights, on land that was between Lake Mendota Drive and
the lake.!® Students were able to live inexpensively here
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during the summer months. Galhstel himself lived in a house
near the east end of the colony

Another university-related facility in this area was the cot-
tage operated by the Women'’s Athletic Association, which was
built near the west end of the university property. The associa-
tion was granted a ninety-nine year lease by the Regents and
raised $3,500 to build the cottage, which was completed by
February 1, 1924. It was used for a number of years as a
destination for hikers from the campus, but by the late 1930’s,
with the coming of the automobile, it was no longer serving a
useful function, since the students now preferred to go farther
afield for amusement. Because it could not be adequately
protected from vandalism at such a remote location, the cabin
was turned over to the Memorial Union, which changed its
name to Black Hawk Lodge. The Union extensively remodeled
the cottage, installing electricity, telephone, and a kitchen,
and a graduate couple was contracted to live there as
chaperones. Black Hawk Lodge was promoted as a “drop-in”
shelter for students hiking, skiing, blkmg, and canoeing, but
fell into disuse after World War 112 The land on which the
lodge stood later fell into private ownership (see below) and
the cabin was demolished sometime in the 1960’s.

From the time of the Raymer purchase in 1911, until the
late 1930’s, the university controlled an extensive shoreline of
over about 3500 feet that ran from the Gallistel house west to
the corporate limits of the Village of Shorewood Hills. How-
ever, the university’s ownership of all this land was not to last,
since some of it was traded as part of the acquisition of Picnic
Point.

Picnic Point

The Picnic Point Farm, just east of the Raymer farm, had
been developed in the late 19th century by Breese Stevens and
his partner Morris E. Fuller. By the 1920’s it was owned by
Stevens’ descendents, and in 1925 Edward J. Young, a wealthy
lumberman, Purchascd the Picnic Point Farm from the
Stevens heirs>' asa wedding present for his second wife, Alice
Martens. Although the previous owners had been absentee
farmers, Young and his wife settled there, extensively remod-
eled the farm house, and raised several children on the prop-
erty.

On September 4, 1935, a hung: fire destroyed the Edward J.
Young house on Picnic Point. V\rnh their house gone, the
Young’s decided to sell Picnic Point.? Although the university
was an eager buyer, Young drove a hard bargain, insisting on
receiving not only substantial cash but also land around Eagle
Heights, on which Young intended to build a new house. In
the real estate transaction (the deeds are dated 1939 and
1941), Young was paid $205,000, in addition to receiving the
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Aerial view of the Eagle Heights area in 1941. Part of the burgeoning Village of Sh

in the foreground.

The white rectangle in the lower left is the tennis court on the grounds of the Shorewood Hills School,
at the corner of Amherst, Bowdoin, and Shorewood Boulevard. The University of Wisconsin farm house and
orchard can be seen in the middle distance. To the lefl is the Eagle Heights woods, at that time ouned by Edward Young.

State Historical Society of Wisconsiln WHi (D482) 12639.

28 acre Eagle Heights promontory (including the mounds
with the university plaque). Young also received that part
of the woods north of Lake Mendota Drive that was not
being used by the Tent Colony, including the land upon
which Black Hawk Cabin stood.

Of the 146 acres that the university had first acquired in
the Raymer purchase in 1911, approximately 40 acres were
deeded to Young as part of the Picnic Point transaction.

By this time, the College of Agriculture had made exten-
sive developments on the old Raymer farm, including an
orchard and many crop fields. The roads that had been
built initially by Raymer were now used by the university
agriculture workers, and Lake Mendota Drive itself, which
had been built by Raymer and the Madison Park and
Pleasure Drive Association, had become a major public
thoroughfare for traffic west to Shorewood Hills, and on to
Spring Harbor and the Mendota Beach area.

Further Developments on Eagle Heights

When Edward Young acquired Eagle Heights from the
University of Wisconsin, he intended to build a house at the
very top of the hill, near the effigy mounds, where it would
have had a commanding view of the whole Lake Mendota
region. He immediately started landscaping and laying out
bridle paths. At this time, streetcars had been phased out
in Madison, and Young bought from the city granite blocks
that had been used between the rails. Although a blacktop
road had been built to the top of the promontory in 1924

Historic Madison: Volume XII: 1995

26, it was presumably no longer suitable, since Young began

to construct a new road from the base

of Wood Lane in the

Village of Shorewood Hills (a small street called Shady Lane

marks the spot today). Although there

are no remnants of this

granite-blocked road, many of the blocks themselves can be

found in the woods, as well as in
near the Youngs Shorewood Hills ho

In 1948, Young began to plan for hi

along Edgehill Drive
e.
house. A large area of

woods was cleared and Young requested permission from the

Thcng in September 1948, before an
gun, Young died. His widow conti
Heights woods and the shoreline area

construction was be-
ued to own the Eagle
holding it as undevel-

Village of Shorewood Hills for water ?d sewer ccmm:ct:ion.24

oped land. There was a preliminary proposal in 1950 to de-
velop about 100 homesites on the land, but fortunately this

proposal was never compietcd

In 1951, university benefactor Thomas Brittingham, Jr.

purchased from Alice Young the 28.2

acres that constituted

the Eagle Heights promontory and donated it to the University
of Wisconsin. This included the natural area, the effigy

mounds, and all of the land that Alice
south of Lake Mendota Drive. As far
the numerous photographs taken be

Young owned that was
can be learned from
en 1890 and 1950, the

woods on the Eagle Heights hill was never disturbed cxccpt
for the small clearing which Young had made in 19487

The land north of Lake Mendota Drive was eventually sold

by Alice Young and in the late 1950’s
this land was developed as a large apa
the early 1980’s a small condominium
intent being to build further units eas
Wisconsin boundary was reached. Aft
group of public spirited individuals rai

d early 1960’s, part of
ent building, and in
building was built, the
until the University of
r one unit was built, a
sed money by soliciting
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Air photo of the Eagle Heights area in 1948, during the construction of the University Houses apartment comples.
At this time, the Eagle Heights woods (upper left) was still in private ownership, and most of the original

George Raymer farm was still operated by the College of Agriculture. The road across the bottom of the photograph is
Oxford Road in the Village of Shorewood Hills. State Historical Society of Wisconsin WHi (N48) 5419

contributions and in 1984 purchased the remaining land
(which they called “Lower Eagle Heights Woods”) for
$398,000. This citizen group, which evolved into the Dane
County Natural Heritage Foundation, in 1984 named the
land “Wally Bauman Woods”, after Walter R. Bauman, a
Dane County Supervisor active in conservation.?® The Dane
County Natural Heritage Foundation subsequently do-
nated this land to the University of Wisconsin. It has been
maintained in a natural state and is physically contiguous
with the former tent colony tract.

Faculty and Married Student Housing in
the Eagle Heights Area

After World War II, the university itself began developing
the land it owned along Lake Mendota Drive.?? University
Houses, a facility for newly arriving faculty, was builtin 1946
and 1947 on land just south of the Eagle Heights promon-
tory. This development was quite successful, and soon after-
ward, the university made plans to build apartments for
married students as well. The first Eagle Heights married
student apartments were built near University Bay Drive in
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1957. Over the period 1958-1963, further units were built
farther up the slope on the old Raymer farm. The final units
were built in a university orchard area adjacent to the Eagle
Heights woods. Fortunately, the high promontory, with the
native woods, effigy mounds, and stunning view, remained
undeveloped.

The Eagle Heights Natural Area is now under the manage-
ment the University of Wisconsin Arboretum, and the remain-

ing natural areas Lake Mendota Drive can look forward to a
future of intelligent protection and soft development.
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